Identification and characterization of potential inducers of aldehyde dehydrogenase from food phytochemicals

September 2017

# YUJIA LIU

Graduate School of Environmental and Life Science Doctor Course Okayama University, Japan

# PREFACE

The experiments described in the dissertation were carried out at the Graduate School of Environmental and Life Science (Doctor course), Okayama University, Japan, from October, 2014 to September 2017, under the supervision of Professor Y. Nakamura. These studies are original work by the author and any other assistance and collaboration from others are specially acknowledged.

This dissertation has not been submitted previously whole or in the part to the council, a university or any other professional institution for a degree, diploma or other professional qualification.

YUJIA LIU September 2017

# CONTENTS

PREFACEi
CONTENTSii
LIST OF FIGURES iv
ABBREVIATIONS v
ABSTRACTvi
CHAPTER 1 1
General Introduction 1
1.1 Ethanol metabolism
1.1.2 ALDH2 mutant
1.2 Food phytochemicals
1.2.1Benzyl isothiocyanate
1.2.2 Quercetin
1.3 Transcriptional factors involved in ALDH activity
1.3.1 Keap1/Nrf2/ARE pathway
1.3.2 AhR/ARNT/XRE pathway 4
1.3.3 Nuclear factor-kappa B 5
1.4 Study outlines
CHAPTER 2
Benzyl isothiocyanate ameliorates acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity by enhancing aldehyde dehydrogenase activity in murine hepatoma Hepa1c1c7 cells
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Materials and Methods 10
2.2.1. Chemicals and antibodies
2.2.2. Cell culture
2.2.3. Assay of ALDH activity
2.2.4. RNA extraction and RT-PCR
2.2.5. Western blot analysis

2.2.6. MTT assay	14
2.2.7. RNA interference	14
2.2.8. Statistical analysis	14
2.3. Results	15
2.3.1. BITC enhanced the total ALDH enzyme activity	15
2.3.2. BITC enhanced the gene and protein expression of ALDHs	17
2.3.3. An Nrf2-dependent pathway was activated by BITC	20
2.3.4. Silencing Nrf2 affected the total ALDH activity	23
2.3.5. BITC pretreatment increased the resistance to the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity2	26
2.4. Discussion	30
CHAPTER 3	33
3,4-Dihydroxyphenylacetic acid is a potential aldehyde dehydrogenase inducer in	
murine hepatoma Hepa1c1c7 cells	33
3.1 Introduction	33
3.2 Materials and Methods	35
3.2.1. Chemicals and antibodies	35
3.2.2 Cell culture and treatment	35
3.2.3 MTT assay	35
3.2.4 Western blotting assay	35
3.2.5 ALDH activity assay	35
3.3 Results	36
3.3.1DOPAC enhanced ALDH activity	36
3.3.2 Effect of DOPAC on gene expression of ALDHs	36
3.3.3 Effect of DOPAC on protein expression of ALDHs	38
3.3.4 Effect of DOPAC on protein level of Transcriptional factor Nrf2, AhR and NF-KB	40
3.3.5 DOPAC mitigated acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity	43
3.4 Discussion	45
CONCLUSION	49
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	51
REFERENCES	52

# LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 1.1 Diagram of the activation of Nrf2	4
Fig. 1.2 Diagram of the activation of AhR	5
Fig. 2.1 Modulating effects of BITC on the ALDH activities in several hepatoc lines.	yte cell 17
Fig. 2.2 Modulating effects of BITC on the gene and protein expressions of the c family of ALDHs.	lassical 20
Fig. 2.3 Modulating effects of BITC on the gene expression of the phase 2 enzyr Nrf2 level in Hepa1c1c7 cells.	nes and 22
Fig. 2.4 Modulating effects of Nrf2 knockdown on the activity and gene exprese ALDHs.	ssion of 25
Fig. 2.5 Nrf2-dependent protection against acetaldehyde by BITC ALDH3A1-dependent protection against acetaldehyde by BITC.	C and 28
Fig.3.1 Modulating effects of DOPAC on the enzyme activity.	36
Fig. 3.2 Modulating effects of DOPAC on gene expression of ALDHs.	38
Fig. 3.3 Modulating effects of DOPAC on the protein expression of ALDHs.	39
Fig. 3.4 Modulating effects of DOPAC on the protein expression and translocation of Nrf2, AhR and NF- $\kappa$ B.	nuclear 42
Fig. 3.5 Mitigating effect of DOPAC on the acetaldehyde-induced cytotox Hepa1c1c7 cells.	icity in 44

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

- ALDH, aldehyde dehydrogenase;
- AhR, aryl hydrocarbon receptor;
- AA, acetaldehyde;
- ARE, antioxidant response element;
- BITC, Benzyl isothiocyanate;
- DOPAC, 3,4-Dihydroxyphenylacetic acid;
- **HO-1**, heme oxygenase-1;
- GST, glutathione S-transferases;
- GCLC, glutamate-cysteine ligase catalytic subunit;
- NQO1, NAD(P)H: quinone oxidoreductase 1;
- Nrf2, nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2;
- **NF-\kappaB**, Nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B;
- $NAD^+$ ,  $\beta$ -nicotinamide-adenine dinucleotide, oxidized form;
- Q4'G, quercetin 4'-glucoside;

# ABSTRACT

Ethanol elimination is an important detoxified metabolism after ethanol absorption, which mainly contains two steps. The first step is catalyzed by alcohol dehydrogenase, which converted ethanol to acetaldehyde. In the second step, aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) catalyzes the toxic aldehydes to the nontoxic acids. In Asian countries, about 40% of the people have the mutation of ALDH2, which is called ALDH2\*2. This mutation leads to the accumulation of acetaldehyde which causes significant damage to the liver and serious abnormal reaction of the body like vasodilation and facial flushing. Food phytochemicals, such as polyphenols and organosulfur compounds, have been confirmed to have various promising effects on health promotion. In this study, I have been focusing on the induction of the ALDH activity by food phytochemicals to prevent the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity.

In the Chapter 1, I determined the effect of benzyl isothiocyanate (BITC) on the ALDH activity in mouse hepatoma Hepa1c1c7 cells. BITC, an ingredient in papaya, is a member of isothiocyanates (ITCs) mainly derived from the cruciferous vegetables. ITCs have been reported to show several beneficial biological effects, including enhanced detoxification against carcinogens and reactive oxygen species. BITC was shown to enhance not only the total ALDH activity, but also the ALDH activity of the cytosol/microsomal and mitochondrial fractions. BITC also increased the total ALDH activity in rat normal liver RL34 cells and human hepatocellular carcinoma HepaG2 cells. BITC significantly increased the gene expression of ALDH1A1, ALDH2 and ALDH3A1, suggesting that BITC enhanced the total ALDH

enzyme activity through a transcriptional regulation. Simultaneously, the gene expression of phase 2 drug-metabolizing enzymes, such as NAD(P)H: quinone oxidoreductase 1 and heme oxygenase-1, was increased by the BITC treatment. Western blot experiments revealed that BITC not only up-regulated the Nrf2 protein expression, but also stimulated the nuclear translocation of Nrf2. Furthermore, silencing Nrf2 reduced the basal and BITC-enhanced levels of the total ALDH activity and gene expression of ALDHs. The pretreatment of BITC completely mitigated the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity, which was impaired by silencing Nrf2. The present study demonstrated that BITC is identified as a potential inducer of the total ALDH activity to prevent the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity.

In the Chapter 2, I examined the effects of 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC), a major colonic microflora-produced catabolite of quercetin glycosides, on the total ALDH activity in Hepa1c1c7 cells. DOPAC was shown to significantly increase the total ALDH activity. DOPAC also significantly increased each gene expression of ALDH1A1, ALDH2 and ALDH3A1. Even though DOPAC did not change the total protein expression of Nrf2, AhR, and NF- $\kappa$ B too much, the nuclear levels of Nrf2 and AhR, but not NF- $\kappa$ B, significantly increased after the DOPAC treatment. These results suggested that DOPAC is able to activate the signaling pathways of both Nrf2 and AhR, but rather inhibit the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway. Furthermore, the pretreatment of 10  $\mu$ M DOPAC for 6 h completely impaired the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity. These results suggested that DOPAC impaired the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity, possibly through the activation of the AhR and Nrf2 pathways with the inhibition of the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway.

The present study provides biological evidences that (1) an organosulfur compound, BITC, and a phenolic acid, DOPAC, are potential enhancers of the total ALDH activity in Hepa1c1c7 cells; (2) BITC enhanced the total ALDH activity, possibly through a transcriptional factor Nrf2; (3) Pretreatment of BITC attenuated the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity, also through the Nrf2 pathway; (4) DOPAC impaired acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity, possibly through the activation of the AhR and Nrf2 pathways; Taken together, the present study represents a potentially efficient strategy to prevent the alcohol-induced abnormal reaction.

# CHAPTER 1 General Introduction

#### **1.1 Ethanol metabolism**

Alcohol, i.e., ethanol, is a small molecule soluble in both water and lipids. It is absorbed into blood from the stomach to the small intestine, then distributed throughout the body. The liver is the most functional organ for ethanol detoxification. Ethanol is first metabolized to corresponding aldehyde by alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) and then aldehyde is metabolized by aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) to acid (Matysiak-Budnik et al., 1996). Acetaldehyde, the most toxic metabolite of ethanol, it also can be directly absorbed from food and tobacco smoke (Yan et al., 2016). Accumulation of acetaldehyde can cause a serious of diseases, such as mitochondrial dysfunction, liver damage and gut barrier dysfunction (Setshedi et al., 2010). Mitochondrial ALDH2 is a member of ALDH family, specially catalyzes acetaldehyde to acetate. ALDH2 ameliorates alcohol-induced liver injury through oxidation of acetaldehyde (Tanaka et al., 2016). ALDH1A1 and ALDH3A1 are also belong to ALDH family which have been reported assistant effect of ALDH2 in acetaldehyde oxidation (Chen et al., 2015)(Lind et al., 2008). In addition, ALDH1A1 play an important role in the formation of retinoic acid which is a potent modulator for gene expression and tissue differentiation (Vasiliou and Nebert, 2005). ALDH3A1, a high proportion of mammalian cornea, protect against UV-induced oxidative stress through cellular lipids peroxidation (Reisdorph and Lindahl, 2007).

#### 1.1.2 ALDH2 mutant

ALDH2\*2 allele is ALDH2 mutant encodes a protein subunit with a lysine for glutamate substitution at position 487 which causes flush reaction (Xiao et al., 1995). ALDH2\*2 protein expressed as an increased Km for NAD<sup>+</sup> and reduced V max. This

change in Km for NAD<sup>+</sup> renders the enzyme nearly inactive at the concentration of NAD<sup>+</sup> that occurs in cells and the clearance of acetaldehyde is decreased (Xiao et al., 1996). ALDH2\*2 allele also increased sensitivity to acute or chronic alcohol-induced toxicity. When exposed to a chemical carcinogen, ALDH2\*2 allele pronounced liver injury and accelerated developed to hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)(Abe et al., 2015)(Jin et al., 2015).

#### **1.2 Food phytochemicals**

Food phytochemicals are compounds found in plant such as vegetables, fruits, nuts and other edible plants. Many famous food phytochemicals such as polyphenols, flavanols, glucosinolates have been reported their protective effect on cancer and other chronic diseases (Scalbert et al., 2011).

#### 1.2.1 Benzyl isothiocyanate

Benzyl isothiocyanate (BITC) is one of isothiocyanates (ITCs) which are derived from cruciferous vegetables, also is an extremely rich source in papaya seeds (Nakamura et al., 2007). Epidemiologic studies suggest that consumption of cruciferous vegetables is protective against cancers (Higdon et al., 2007). A wide variety of ITCs have been reported to show several beneficial biological effects including enhanced detoxification against carcinogens and reactive oxygen species. We previously demonstrated that benzyl ITC (BITC) induces phase 2 drug-metabolizing enzymes such as GSTs (Nakamura et al., 2000). BITC inhibits cell proliferation by inducing cell cycle arrest or apoptosis in hepatocytes (Nakamura et al., 2002), T lymphocytes (Miyoshi et al., 2004), colon fibroblasts (Miyoshi et al., 2007), cervical epithelial cells (Miyoshi et al., 2008), renal proximal tubular cells (Abe et al., 2012), and colorectal cancer cells (Abe et al., 2014). In addition, BITC reduces inflammatory responses in macrophages (Murakami et al., 2003) and the allergy-related cytokine expression in basophil cells (Tang et al., 2015).

#### 1.2.2 Quercetin

Quercetin is one of the flavono naturally occurring in onions, apples, tea and wine as the glycosides (Hubbard et al., 2006). It has been shown to exert anticancer and antiinflammatory effects (Srivastava et al., 2016). Quercetin 4'-glucoside (Q4'G) is one of the quercetin conjugates in onion, which is absorbed more efficiently than another typical monoglucoside quercetin 3'-glucoside (Q3'G)(Day et al., 2003). Many studies have shown that Q4'G is a good resource of mononglucoside which can prevent oxidative damage (Hollman et al., 1997)(Graefe et al., 2001). Mullen et al. used radiolabeled Q4'G ([2-14C] Q4'G) to monitor the metabolites. After 6 h ingestion, the flavonol glucoside was converted to glucuronide and methylated and sulfated derivatives of quercetin in the small intestine. Continually the flavonol metabolites declined and finally converted to phenolic acids, principally 3-hydroxyphenylacetic acid (OPAC) and 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC), by the colonic microflora on entering the cecum and the colon (Mullen et al., 2008).

## **1.3 Transcriptional factors involved in ALDH activity**

#### 1.3.1 Keap1/Nrf2/ARE pathway

The Keap1/Nrf2/ARE pathway is an important regulator of cytoprotective responses to endogenous and exogenous reactive oxygen species (ROS) stress and electrophiles (Baird and Dinkova-Kostova, 2011). Transcription factor Nrf2 (nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2) translocated from cytoplasm to nucleus where it binds together with small Maf proteins to the antioxidant response element (ARE) in the regulatory regions of target genes (Kensler et al., 2007). ALDH1a1, ALDH2 and ALDH3a1 is probably

mediated by the Keap1/Nrf2/ARE pathway because ARE core consensus sequences were identified in the 5-flanking region of their genes (Sreerama and Sládek, 2001)(Azmannabdullah et al., 2012)(Ushida and Talalay, 2013).



Fig. 1.1 Diagram of the activation of Nrf2

#### **1.3.2 AhR/ARNT/XRE pathway**

The AhR is a cytosolic receptor which the most widely recognized ligand is 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD), and regulate gene expression of Cyp1a1, NQO1 and ALDH3A1 (Kurita et al., 2014). On ligand binding, AhR binds to the aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear transporter (ARNT) and translocates to the nucleus (Brauze et al., 2006). The AhR-ARNT heterodimer promotes the transcription of genes containing xenobiotic response elements (XRE) in their promoters (Boesch et al., 1999). The traditional role of AhR is metabolizing environmental toxins, moreover recently AhR have been shown its effect on the development, cellular oxidation/antioxidation, responses to ultraviolet light, melanogenesis, epidermal barrier function, and immune

regulation (Esser and Rannug, 2015). A previous study demonstrated that the knockdown of AhR reduced the total ALDH activity by 80% in Hs578T cells (Stanford et al., 2016). AhR also interacted with RAR/RXR receptors which has modified effect on ALDH1 (Bunaciu and Yen, 2011).



Fig. 1.2 Diagram of the activation of AhR

#### 1.3.3 Nuclear factor-kappa B

The transcription factor NF- $\kappa$ B is a cytosolic protein complex which control DNA transcription, it translocated to nucleus when activated. NF- $\kappa$ B is found in almost all animal cell types and famous for regulating the immune response to infection (Oeckinghaus and Ghosh, 2009). R.A. Canuto et al. reported that Docosahexaenoic acid inhibited ALDH3A1 expression by decrease of AP-1 and NF- $\kappa$ B binding activity (Muzio et al., 2006).

#### **1.4 Study outlines**

In the present study, I assessed two food phytochemicals BITC and DOPAC as potential ALDH enhancers to prevent against acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity used Hepa1c1c7 cells. BITC also increase ALDH activity in RL 34 and HepG2 cells. I also investigated the mechanism involved in BITC or DOPAC induced ALDH activity in Hepa1c1c7 cells.

My findings provide biological evidence that (1) BITC not only enhanced ALDH activity, but also increased gene expression of ALDH1A1, ALDH2 and ALDH3A1 which provided a possibility that BITC enhanced ALDH activity at transcriptional level; (2) BITC increased gene expression of Nrf2 regulatory genes NQO1 and HO-1. And BITC increased Nrf2 protein expression and stimulated Nrf2 nuclear translocation; (3) Silencing Nrf2 affected the total ALDH activity and each gene expression of ALDHs; (4) BITC pretreatment increased the resistance to the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity through Nrf2 pathway; (5) DOPAC is an enhancer of ALDH activity and ALDH expression; (6) Transcriptional factors AhR, Nrf2 and NF-κB probably involved in DOPAC enhanced ALDH activity; (7) As a low toxic food chemical, DOPAC impaired acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity. Taken together, these serious studies suggested both BITC and DOPAC showed enhanced ALDH activity which play important roles in prevention from acetaldehyde-induced liver damage possibly though transcriptional regulation of Nrf2 or AhR or NF-κB.

## **CHAPTER 2**

# Benzyl isothiocyanate ameliorates acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity by enhancing aldehyde dehydrogenase activity in murine hepatoma Hepa1c1c7 cells

### 2.1 Introduction

Alcohol, i.e., ethanol, is absorbed into the blood from the stomach to the small intestine, then distributed throughout the body. The metabolism of alcohol converting to acetic acid basically involves two enzymes; alcohol dehydrogenase converting ethanol to acetaldehyde and aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) catalyzing the conversion from acetaldehyde to its corresponding acids (Matysiak-Budnik et al., 1996). Nineteen genes have already been identified as members of the human ALDH family (Vasiliou and Nebert, 2005). Among the ALDH family enzymes, ALDH2 is a mitochondrial enzyme ubiquitously expressed with the highest level in the liver and plays a pivotal role in the acetaldehyde detoxification (Yoshida et al., 1998). In Asian countries, about 40% of the people have the mutation of ALDH2, which is called ALDH2\*2. The acetaldehyde-metabolizing ability of the ALDH2\*2 individuals is only about 15% as efficient as that of wild type individuals. This mutation leads to the accumulation of acetaldehyde which causes significant damage to the liver and serious abnormal reactions of the body like vasodilation and facial flushing (Goedde et al., 1980), (Agarwal et al., 1981), (Xiao et al., 1995). ALDH polymorphism may also result in an increased vulnerability to developing cancer (Wang et al., 2014). In addition to ALDH2, a cytosolic ALDH, ALDH1A1, has also been reported to express at a high level in the liver tissue of humans and play a major role in the acetaldehyde metabolism (Lind, et al., Another cytosolic ALDH, ALDH3A1, has been suggested to assist ALDH2 in 2008). the metabolism of acetaldehyde and ethanol in vivo, even though it exhibits a selective activity for oxidation of aromatic and medium-chain aldehydes (Chen, et al., 2015).

Therefore, the strategy for enhancement of the liver ALDH activities by the administration of food phytochemicals is most likely to prevent humans, who are intolerant to alcohol with a low ALDH activity, from not only an alcohol-induced abnormal reaction, but also chronic diseases including cancer.

A previous study demonstrated that the ALDH activity could be enhanced by the activation of the Kelch like-ECH-associated protein 1/nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (Nrf2)/antioxidant response element (ARE) pathway (Nguyen et al., 2000), (Kensler et al., 2007), (Baird and Dinkova-Kostova, 2011). Nrf2 is the key factor to modulate the phase 2 drug-metabolizing enzyme activity, including glutathione *S*-transferases (GSTs), glutamate-cysteine ligase catalytic subunit (GCLC), NAD(P)H: quinone oxidoreductase 1 (NQO1), and heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) (Nakamura and Miyoshi, 2010). Evaluation of 20 inducers of the phase 2 enzymes belonging to various chemical classes, including isothiocyanates, triterpenoids, flavonoids and stilbenes, demonstrated that their induction potencies of ALDH were closely correlated with those for the NQO1 induction (Ushida and Talalay, 2013).

Isothiocyanates (ITCs), mainly derived from cruciferous vegetables, such as broccoli, wasabi (Japanese horseradish) and watercress, are highly effective for cancer chemoprevention *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Nakamura and Miyoshi, 2010). We previously demonstrated that benzyl ITC (BITC), an ingredient in papaya (Nakamura et al., 2007), induces phase 2 drug-metabolizing enzymes such as GSTs (Nakamura et al., 2000).

In the present study, we assessed BITC as a potential inducer of the total ALDH activity using murine hepatoma Hepa1c1c7 cells. We demonstrated that BITC enhances the ALDH gene expression as well as the cytosolic and mitochondrial ALDH activities. Experiments with Nrf2 siRNA indicated that BITC induces the transcriptional expression

of ALDH isozymes by causing Nrf2 to accumulate in the nucleus. Furthermore, the pretreatment of BITC increased the resistance to the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity.

#### **2.2 Materials and Methods**

#### 2.2.1. Chemicals and antibodies

BITC was purchased from LKT laboratories, Inc. (St. Paul, MN, USA). Antibodies against ALDH2, Nrf2, lamin B1, and actin, siRNA for Nrf2 (Catalog No. sc-37049), siRNA for ALDH3A1 (Catalog No. sc-72033), and control scrambled siRNA (Catalog No. sc-37007) were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA, USA). Antibodies against ALDH1A1 and ALDH3A1 were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology (Beverly, MA, USA) and ABCAM (Cambridge, MA, USA), respectively. α-Minimum essential medium (α-MEM), Lipofectamine<sup>®</sup> 3000 Transfection Kit, and Trizol reagent were purchased from Life Technologies (Carlsbad, CA, USA). Fatal bovine serum (FBS) was purchased from Nichirei Corporation (Tokyo, Japan). Chemi-lumi One Super was purchased from Nakalai Tesque, Inc. (Kyoto, Japan). Immobilon-P membrane was purchased from Merck Millipore (Billerica, MA, USA). The Bio-Rad Protein Assay was purchased from Bio-Rad Laboratories (Hercules, CA, USA). ReverTra Ace was purchased from TOYOBO Co., Ltd. (Osaka, Japan). Taq polymerase was purchased from Takara Bio, Inc. (Kusatsu, Japan). Pierce<sup>TM</sup> BCA Protein Assay Kit was purchased from Thermo Scientific (Meridian Rd., Rockford, USA).  $\beta$ -Nicotinamide-adenine dinucleotide, oxidized form (NAD<sup>+</sup>) was purchased from Oriental Yeast Co., Ltd. (Tokyo, Japan). All other chemicals were purchased from Wako Pure Chemical Industries (Osaka, Japan).

#### 2.2.2. Cell culture

Hepa1c1c7 cells and human hepatocellular carcinoma HepG2 cells were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection. Hepa1c1c7 cells and HepG2 cells were grown at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere in  $\alpha$ -MEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 4 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 µg/ml streptomycin. RL34 cells were obtained from the Health Science Research Resources Bank, Osaka, Japan. The cells were grown as monolayer cultures in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, penicillin (100 U/ml), streptomycin (100 µg/ml), L-glutamine (0.3 mg/ml), pyruvic acid (0.11 mg/ml), and 0.37% NaHCO<sub>3</sub> at 37 °C.

#### 2.2.3. Assay of ALDH activity

Hepa1c1c7, RL34 and HepG2 cells (1.2 x 10<sup>6</sup>) were seeded on 60-mm dishes at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere for 24 h, then treated with or without the different concentrations of BITC in 0.2% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). The ALDH activity was measured as previously described by Moreb *et al.* (Moreb et al., 2000). Briefly, the cell lysates were prepared by 1 ml lysis buffer (50 mM Tris (pH 8), 25 mM EDTA, 5 mM β-mercaptoethanol, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, and 0.1% sarcosyl) and centrifugated at 10,000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C. Twenty  $\mu$ l of 5 mM NAD<sup>+</sup> and 20  $\mu$ l of 5 mM propionaldehyde (substrate) were added to 200 µl of supernatant to start this assay. NADH was measured by the change in absorbance at 340 nm over 5 min. One unit was defined as the amount of enzyme activity that catalyzed 1  $\mu$ mol NAD<sup>+</sup> to NADH per minute. The mitochondrial and cytosolic/microsomal ALDH activities were separately measured according to the method of Ushida and Talalay (Ushida and Talalay, 2013). Briefly, lysis buffer contained 0.25 M sucrose, 1 mM 2-mercaptoethanol and 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4), cell lysates were homogenized and centrifuged at 750 g for 15 min. The supernatants were centrifuged twice at 12,000 g for 20 min to obtain the cytosolic/microsomal fractions and the mitochondrial fractions. The mitochondrial fractions (sediments) were dissolved in 0.25 M sucrose, diluted with one-half volume of 1% sodium bicarbonate containing 1% sodium deoxycholate (w/v) and sonicated at 4°C for five 2-min periods before the assays.

#### 2.2.4. RNA extraction and RT-PCR

Hepa1c1c7 cells  $(5.0 \times 10^5)$  were precultured in a 6-well plate for 24 h, then treated with or without the different concentrations of BITC. The total RNA was extracted using Trizol reagent according to the manufacturer's manual. The total RNA was reverse transcribed to cDNA using ReverTra Ace. PCR amplification was then performed with Tag polymerase. The Primers used in the PCR amplification are as follows: mALDH1A1, 5'-gACAggCTTTCCAgATTggCTC-3' (F) and (R) mALDH2, 5'-AAgACTTTCCCACCATTgAgTgC-3'; (F) 5'-TgAAgACggTTACTgTTACTgTCAAAgTgC-3' (R) and 5'-AgTgTgTgTggCggTTTTTTCTC-3'; (F) mALDH3A1, 5'-gATgCCCATTgTgTgTgTgTTCg-3' and (R) 5'-CCACCgCTTgATgTCTCTgC-3'; mNQO1, (F) 5'-TCgAAgAACTTTCAgTATCC-3' (R) and 5'-TgAAgAgAgTACATggACCC-3'; mHO-1, (F) 5'-ACATCgACAgCCCCACCAAgTTCAA-3' and 5'-CTgACgAAgTgACgCCATCTgTgAg-3';  $m\beta$ -actin, (F) 5'-gCTCTTTTCCAgCCTTCCTT-3' and (R) 5'-CTTCTgCATCCTgTCAgCAA-3'. The cycles and annealing temperatures used in the PCR amplification are as follows: mALDH1A1, 20 cycles, 57°C (product size 142 bp); mALDH2, 20 cycles, 57°C (product size 115 bp); mALDH3A1 (product size 138 bp), 25 cycles, 56°C; mNQO1, 22 cycles, 55°C (product size 290 bp); mHO-1, 26 cycles, 56°C (product size 203 bp); mβ-actin, 16 cycles, 65°C (product size 455 bp). The PCR product were separated on an agarose gel

(3% or 4%), stained with ethidium bromide, and visualized under UV light. The relative densities of the bands were measured using Image J Software Program.

#### 2.2.5. Western blot analysis

The whole cell lysates were prepared in lysis buffer (20 mM Tris-HCL, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA, 2 mM EGTA, 2 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), 10 mM NaF, 1 mM NaVO<sub>3</sub>, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), 0.1% SDS, 1% Triton X-100) containing protease inhibitor cocktail and left on ice for 20 min. After the cell lysates were sonicated and centrifuged, the supernatant containing 30 µg of protein were prepared for SDS-PAGE. For separation of nuclear fraction, the cells were first suspended in buffer-1 (10 mM HEPES, pH 7.9, 10 mM KCl, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.1 mM EGTA, 1 mM DTT, 10 mM NaF, 1 mM NaVO<sub>3</sub> and PMSF) containing protease inhibitor cocktail and left on ice for 15 min. After 0.4% NP-40 was added, the cell lysates were centrifuged at 500 g for 4 min. Sediments were washed 3 times by buffer-1 and suspended in buffer-2 (20 mM HEPES pH 7.9, 400 mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA, 1mM EGTA, 1 mM DTT, 10 mM NaF, 1 mM NaVO<sub>3</sub> and 1 mM PVSF) containing protease inhibitor cocktail, kept on ice for 15 min, then centrifuged 18000 g for 20 min. The supernatant containing 10 µg protein was prepared for SDS-PAGE. After the SDS-PAGE purification, the proteins were electrophoretically transferred to the PVDF membranes. The bound antibody was visualized using a Chem-Lumi One Super. The relative densities of the bands were measured using Image J Software Program.

#### 2.2.6. MTT assay

Hepa1c1c7 cells  $(2 \times 10^5)$  were seeded in a 96-well plate and incubated for 24 h. After the pretreatment of a non-toxic concentration of BITC  $(1 \mu M)$  for 24 h, the cells were treated with different concentrations of acetaldehyde for 3 h. After the acetaldehyde stimulation, each well was exposed to the MTT solution for an additional 2 h. The MTT containing formazan crystals in living cells were solubilized in a mixture of HCl and 2-propanol, then measured at 570 nm by spectrophotometry. The cell viability results were expressed as percentages compared to each of the controls.

#### 2.2.7. RNA interference

Hepa1c1c7 cells (2.0 x  $10^5$ ) were seeded in a 6-well plate and transfected with Nrf2 siRNA (Santa Cruz, Catalog No. sc-37049, 120 µmol) or the control scrambled siRNA (Santa Cruz, Catalog No. sc-37007, 120 µmol) using Lipofectamine<sup>®</sup> 3000 Reagent according to the manufacturer's instruction. After 48 h of transfection, the cells were treated with DMSO or 5 µM BITC for 24 h followed by Western blot, RT-PCR, MTT assay and ALDH activity assay.

#### 2.2.8. Statistical analysis

All values were expressed as means  $\pm$  SD. Statistical significance was analyzed by Student's t-test or a one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD using XLSTAT software. A p-value of 0.05 was regarded to be statistically significant.

#### 2.3. Results

#### **2.3.1. BITC enhanced the total ALDH enzyme activity**

A

We initially determined the cytotoxic effect of BITC on Hepa1c1c7 cells and observed that the BITC at concentrations of more than 20  $\mu$ M induced a significant toxicity (Fig. 2.5A). Therefore, 10  $\mu$ M was used as the maximum concentration of BITC to test. As shown in Fig. 2.1A, we observed a significant increase in the total ALDH activity in the BITC-treated Hepa1c1c7 cells. When the cells were incubated with 10  $\mu$ M BITC for 24 h, the total ALDH activity was enhanced about 2 times compared to the control group. We next separately investigated the ALDH activities in the cytosolic/microsomal fraction as well as in the mitochondrial fraction. The basal ALDH activity in the cytosolic/microsomal fraction was much higher than that in the mitochondrial fraction. As shown in Figs. 2.1B and 2.1C, the ALDH activities in each fraction were significantly increased by the treatment of 5  $\mu$ M BITC for 24 h. Furthermore, as shown in Figs. 2.1D and 2.1E, BITC significantly increased the total ALDH activity not only in rat liver epithelial RL34 cells, but also in human hepatocellular carcinoma HepG2 cells. These results suggested that BITC is a potential enhancer of the total ALDH enzyme activity.









**Fig. 2.1** Modulating effects of BITC on the ALDH activities in several hepatocyte cell lines.

Hepa1c1c7 cells or RL34 cells ( $1.2 \times 10^6$ ) were seeded on 60-mm dishes for 24 h, then treated with or without the different concentrations of BITC for 24 h. HepG2 cells ( $1.2 \times 10^6$ ) were seeded on 60-mm dishes for 24 h, then treated with or without the different concentrations of BITC for 3 h. The ALDH activity was measured using propionaldehyde as a substrate as previously described by Moreb et al. (Moreb et al., 2000). The mitochondrial and cytosolic/microsomal ALDH activities were separately measured according to the method of Ushida and Talalay (Ushida and Talalay, 2013). (A) total ALDH activity, (B) cytosolic/microsomal fractions and (C) mitochondrial fraction in Hepa1c1c7 cells, (D) total ALDH activity in RL34 cells, and (E) total ALDH activity in HepG2 cells. All values are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD of three separate experiments (\*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01 compared to 0  $\mu$ M BITC group; Student's t-test).

#### 2.3.2. BITC enhanced the gene and protein expression of ALDHs

We next checked the gene expression of the classical family of ALDHs, such as ALDH1A1, ALDH2 and ALDH3A1, by RT-PCR. As shown in Figs. 2.2A, 2.2B, 2.2C and 2.2D BITC significantly increased each mRNA level of ALDH1A1, ALDH2 and

ALDH3A1 in a dose-dependent manner. Furthermore, as shown in Figs. 2.2E, 2.2F, 2.2G and 2.2H, BITC also significantly increased the protein levels of ALDH1A1, ALDH2 and ALDH3A1. These results suggested that BITC enhanced the total ALDH enzyme activity through a transcriptional regulation.









G







**Fig. 2.2** Modulating effects of BITC on the gene and protein expressions of the classical family of ALDHs.

The total RNA was extracted from the Hepa1c1c7 cells treated with BITC for 24 h, then a RT-PCR analysis for each gene was carried out. (A) representative and quantitative data for (B) ADLH1A1, (C) ADLH2 and (D) ADLH3A1. The total protein was extracted from the Hepa1c1c7 cells treated with BITC for 24 h, then a Western blot analysis for each protein was carried out. (E) representative blots and quantitative data for (F) ADLH1A1, (G) ADLH2 and (H) ADLH3A1. All values are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD of three separate experiments (\*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01 compared to 0  $\mu$ M BITC group; Student's t-test).

#### 2.3.3. An Nrf2-dependent pathway was activated by BITC

Η

Several ALDH genes have been identified as Nrf2-regulated ones by the microarray screening using Nrf2 knockout (Nrf2<sup>-/-</sup>) mice (Thimmulappa et al., 2002). Nrf2 also controls the gene expression of the representative phase 2 detoxifying enzymes such as NQO1 and HO-1 (Li et al., 2014). As shown in Figs. 2.3A, 2.3B and 2.3C, the treatment of BITC for 24 h also significantly induced the gene expression of NQO1 and

HO-1 in a dose-dependent manner. These results indicated that BITC might activate the Nrf2 pathway. Thus, we examined the Nrf2 protein expression and nuclear translocation by Western blotting. As shown in Fig. 2.3D, the treatment of BITC caused a significant increase in the Nrf2 level of the total cell lysate. Furthermore, the nuclear level of the Nrf2 protein was significantly increased by a 24-h BITC treatment (Fig. 2.3E). These results suggested that BITC actually activated the Nrf2 pathway, possibly through enhancement of the protein expression and nuclear translocation of Nrf2.





Β









**Fig. 2.3** Modulating effects of BITC on the gene expression of the phase 2 enzymes and Nrf2 level in Hepa1c1c7 cells.

Hepa1c1c7 cells were treated with BITC for 24 h, then a RT-PCR analysis for each gene was carried out. (A) representative and quantitative data for (B) NQO1 and (C) HO-1. Hepa1c1c7 cells were treated with BITC for 24 h, and the nuclear fractions as well as total cell lysates were subjected to a Western blot analysis. (D) BITC increased the Nrf2 protein level in the whole lysate. (E) BITC increased the nuclear accumulation of Nrf2. All values are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD of three separate experiments (\*p <0.05, \*\*p <0.01 compared to 0  $\mu$ M BITC group; Student's t-test)

#### 2.3.4. Silencing Nrf2 affected the total ALDH activity

To confirm whether Nrf2 is involved in the BITC-enhanced ALDH activity, we used an siRNA technique to knockdown the Nrf2 protein expression. A Western blot analysis showed that the Nrf2 siRNA transfection significantly depleted the Nrf2 level to 40% compared to the control (Fig. 2.4A). When the cells were incubated with 5 µM BITC for 24 h, the nuclear level of Nrf2 was enhanced about 2.5 times compared to the control group (Fig. 2.4B), suggesting that the Nrf2 siRNA transfection under the present condition might be adequate for inhibition of the BITC-induced nuclear translocation. As shown in Fig 2.4B, both the basal and BITC-enhanced levels of the total ALDH activity were significantly decreased after knockdown of Nrf2. We next examined the effect of Nrf2 siRNA on the gene expression of ALDH1A1, ALDH2 and ALDH3A1. The basal expression of the ALDH1A1 gene was significantly decreased by the Nrf2 siRNA, whereas BITC still induced the ALDH1A1 gene expression even under the Nrf2 knockdown condition (Figs. 2.4C and 2.4D). Although the basal ALDH2 gene expression was not affected by the Nrf2 siRNA, the BITC-induced ALDH2 gene expression significantly decreased (Figs. 2.4C and 2.4E). Finally, both the basal and inducible gene expressions of ALDH3A1 were significantly decreased by the Nrf2 siRNA (Figs. 2.4C and 2.4F). These results indicated that the Nrf2-dependent regulation of the expression of ALDH genes might concertedly contribute to not only the basal level, but also the BITC-induced enhancement of the total ALDH activity.









D

E

F





**Fig. 2.4** Modulating effects of Nrf2 knockdown on the activity and gene expression of ALDHs.

Hepa1c1c7 cells (2.0 x 10<sup>5</sup>) were seeded at 6-well plates and transfected with the Nrf2 siRNA or control scrambled siRNA. After 48 h of transfection, the cells were treated with 5  $\mu$ M BITC for 24 h followed by Western blot, RT-PCR, and ALDH activity assay. (A) The Nrf2 protein level in the whole cell lysates. (B) The basal and BITC-enhanced total ALDH activity. (C) Representative gene expression results. The basal and BITC-enhanced expression of (D) ALDH1A1, (E) ALDH2, and (F) ALDH3A1. All values are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD of three separate experiments and analyzed by Student's t-test or a one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD using XLSTAT software. The different letters above the bars indicate significant differences among the treatments for each condition (p < 0.05).

# 2.3.5. BITC pretreatment increased the resistance to the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity

We finally examined the effect of BITC on the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity. As shown in Fig. 2.5A, the treatment of BITC alone for 24 h significantly decreased the cell viability, however 1  $\mu$ M BITC showed none toxicity. As shown in Fig. 2.5B, the treatment of acetaldehyde alone for 3 h significantly decreased the cell viability. Hepa1c1c7 cells were then pretreated with 1  $\mu$ M BITC for 24 h before the acetaldehyde stimulation. As shown in Fig. 2.5B, the pretreatment of BITC for 24 h completely impaired the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity. To determine whether the inhibition of the acetaldehyde cytotoxicity by BITC was regulated by the Nrf2 pathway, the effect of Nrf2 siRNA on the cytoprotection by BITC was examined. Nrf2 siRNA itself did not cause any cytotoxicity in Hepa1c1c7 cells (Fig. 2.5C). The siRNA-mediated depletion

of Nrf2 counteracted the protective effect of BITC on the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity, as compared to the control siRNA (Fig. 2.5C). These results suggested that BITC mitigated the acetaldehyde cytotoxicity through the Nrf2 pathway. Finally, to determine whether the inhibition of the acetaldehyde cytotoxicity by BITC was regulated by ALDH3A1, the effect of ALDH3A1 siRNA on the cytoprotection by BITC was examined. As shown in Fig. 2.5D, the ALDH3A1 siRNA transfection significantly depleted the ALDH3A1 level to 20% compared to the control (Fig. 2.5D). Although ALDH3A1 siRNA itself did not cause any cytotoxicity in Hepa1c1c7 cells, it counteracted the protective effect of BITC on the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity (Fig. 2.5E). These results suggested that BITC mitigated the acetaldehyde cytotoxicity, at least partly, through the ALDH3A1 up-regulation, even though the other ALDHs could not be ruled out in the mechanism.





**Fig. 2.5** Nrf2-dependent protection against acetaldehyde by BITC and ALDH3A1-dependent protection against acetaldehyde by BITC.

Hepa1c1c7 cells (2 x 10<sup>5</sup>) were seeded on a 96-well plate and incubated for 24 h. After the pretreatment of 1  $\mu$ M BITC for 24 h, the cells were treated with different concentrations of acetaldehyde for 3 h. After the acetaldehyde stimulation, an MTT assay was carried out. (A) Inhibitory effect of BITC treatment on the Hepa1c1c7 cells. (B) Inhibitory effect of BITC pretreatment on the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity. (C) Impairment of BITC-enhanced resistance to the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity by the Nrf2 siRNA. Hepa1c1c7 cells (2.0 x 10<sup>5</sup>) were seeded at 6-well plates and transfected with the ALDH3A1 siRNA or control scrambled siRNA, then incubated for 48 h. (D) The ALDH3A1 protein level in the whole cell lysates. (E) Impairment of BITC-enhanced resistance to the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity by the ALDH3A1 siRNA. All values are expressed as means ± SD of three separate experiments and analyzed by Student's t-test or a one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD using XLSTAT software. The different letters above the bars indicate significant differences among the treatments for each condition (p < 0.05).

#### 2.4. Discussion

In the present study, we demonstrated that BITC is a potential enhancer of the total ALDH enzyme activity. BITC dose-dependently enhanced not only the total ALDH activity, but also the cytoplasmic/mitochondrial ALDH activity for 24 h (Fig. 2.1). Simultaneously, the BITC treatments increased the gene expression of not only mitochondrial ALDH, ALDH2, but also cytosolic ALDHs, ALDH1A1, and ALDH3A1 (Fig. 2.2). These results suggested that BITC enhanced the total ALDH activity through a transcriptional regulation. Ushida et al. reported that other ITCs, such as sulforaphane, erucin, ilberin and 4-(rhamnopyranosyloxy)-benzyl isothiocyanate, have potencies for induction of the ALDH activity between 2-20 µM (Ushida and Talalay, 2013), whereas phenethyl ITC was reported to be a potential inhibitor of the ALDH activity (Lindros et al., 1995). A food component, alpha-lipoic acid, has been found to significantly increase the ALDH2 activity in isolated rat heart mitochondria at a concentration of more than 100 µM (Wenzel et al., 2007). Four flavonoids from Echinosophora koreensis also have a positive effect on the ALDH activity *in vivo* (Choi et al., 2009). Compared to the other ALDH enhancers, BITC is one of the most potent food components for increasing the total ALDH activity.

BITC significantly enhanced the gene expression of the Nrf2-dependent genes, such as NQO1 and HO-1 (Fig. 2.3), as well as the ALDH genes (Fig. 2.2). Nrf2 is a key transcriptional factor which activates the expression of the genes that contain ARE in their promoter. Nrf2 translocates to the nucleus where it binds to the ARE sequence, associated with its target genes and proteins. We confirmed that BITC increased both the protein expression and its nuclear translocation of Nrf2 (Figs. 2.3D and 2.3E). Furthermore, the pretreatment of the Nrf2 siRNA decreased both the basal and BITC-enhanced total ALDH activities, suggesting that the BITC-enhanced ALDH

activity is regulated by the Nrf2-dependent pathway. However, the Nrf2-dependency was varied between the basal and BITC-induced expressions of ALDH1A1, ALDH2 and ALDH3A1; the ALDH1A1 gene required Nrf2 for its basal, but not the BITC-induced expression; ALDH2 only required Nrf2 for the BITC-induced expression and; ALDH3A1 required Nrf2 for both its basal and BITC-induced expressions. These results suggested that the Nrf2-dependent pathway is, at least partly, involved in the BITC-induced gene In addition to the Nrf2 dependent pathway, other signing expression of ALDHs. pathways are also postulated. The inhibition of the STAT3 signaling pathway or its activator EZH2 genetically or pharmacologically diminished the level of the ALDH(+) cells and clonogenicity (Shao et al., 2014). AMP-activated protein kinase regulates the ALDH1A1 and ALDH2 expressions (Choi et al., 2011) (Kiefer et al., 2012). The gene expression of ALDH3s was shown to be mediated by an aryl hydrocarbon receptor-(Sládek, 2003) and NF-kB-dependent pathway (Weiner, 2007). The retinoic acid response element is responsible for down-regulation of ALDH1A1 through interaction of the retinoic acid receptor and CCAAT/enhancer binding protein  $\beta$  (Elizondo, et al., 2000). Even though other signaling pathways might be involved in the BITC-enhanced gene expression of ALDH1A1 and ALDH2, Nrf2 is one of the key transcriptional factors for the BITC-enhanced ALDH activity.

The cytotoxic effect of acetaldehyde has also been reported in various cellular models which are derived from the liver (Kurose et al., 1997), gastrointestinal tract (Rao, 1998), gonads (Mapoles et al., 1994), immune system (Sisson and Tuma, 1994) and brain (Yan et al., 2016). We also confirmed that acetaldehyde dose-dependently induced a cytotoxicity in mouse hepatoma Hepa1c1c7 cells (Fig. 2.5B). Tanaka *et al.* found that acetaldehyde triggered oxidative stress via mitochondrial superoxide production in the esophageal keratinocytes and that ALDH2-deficient cells were highly susceptible to the ethanol- or acetaldehyde-mediated toxicity (Tanaka et al., 2016). ALDH2<sup>-/-</sup> mice are

more susceptible to the ethanol and acetaldehyde-induced toxicity than the wild type mice (Yu et al., 2009). Because the ALDH status is responsible for the sensitivity of the we examined the effect of acetaldehyde-induced toxicity, BITC on the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity. BITC (1 µM) actually impaired the acetaldehyde cytotoxicity (Fig. 2.5B). However, BITC did not impair the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity in the Nrf2-knockdown cells as well as in the ALDH3A1-knockdown cells (Fig. 2.5C and 2.5E). These findings suggested that the inhibitory effect of BITC on the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity is controlled by the Nrf2-dependent pathway and, at least in part, ALDH3A1 activity. The present data are consistent with a previous study showing that Nrf2<sup>-/-</sup> mice underwent a significant reduction in their ability to detoxify acetaldehyde (Lamlé et al., 2008). Anni et al. suggested another plausible mechanism for impairment of the acetaldehyde-induced toxicity which involves cysteine and glutathione (Anni et al., 2003). BITC not only induced the gene expression of ALDHs, but also the phase 2 genes including HO-1 (Fig. 4B), GST (Nakamura et al., 2000) and GCLC (Miyoshi et al., 2008). All of the HO-1, GST and GCLC genes have been reported to play an effective role in protection against oxidative stress (Ghattas et al., 2002) (Zou et al., 2014) (Franklin et al., 2002). Therefore, the BITC-induced phase 2 enzymes cannot be ruled out in the beneficial effect on amelioration of the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity.

The present study demonstrated that BITC significantly increased the total ALDH enzyme activity and the gene expression of ALDHs dependent on the Nrf2 pathway. BITC mitigated the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity which is also Nrf2-dependent. The present study represents a potentially efficient strategy to prevent the alcohol-induced abnormal reaction.

## **CHAPTER 3**

# **3,4-Dihydroxyphenylacetic acid is a potential aldehyde dehydrogenase inducer in murine hepatoma Hepa1c1c7 cells**

#### **3.1 Introduction**

3,4-Dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC) is one of the major colonic microflora-produced catabolites of quercetin glycosides, such as quercetin 4'-glucoside (Q4'G) (Mullen et al., 2008), rutin (Ura et al., 2002), and hyperoside (quercetin 3-galactoside)(Yang et al., 2013). Human fecal bacteria have an ability to catalyze the formation of DOPAC(Peng et al., 2014) and an excretion of DOPAC was increased in human urine after the digestion of polyphenols from chocolate (Rios et al., 2003). DOPAC has also been identified as a significant metabolite of rutin in human blood by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (Sawai et al., 1987). DOPAC is also known as a metabolite of a neurotransmitter dopamine. Taken together, the actual occurrence of DOPAC in humans is strongly suggested (Gesi et al., 2008). We have recently identified DOPAC as a predominant antioxidative catabolite of quercetin glycosides (Tang et al., 2016). A pulldown assay using a DOPAC click chemistry probe identified Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 and aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) as the potential binding target proteins for the phase 2 drug-metabolizing enzyme up-regulation (Nakashima et al., 2016). DOPAC also inhibited the hydrogen peroxide-induced cytotoxicity in hepatocytes (Tang et al., 2016). In addition to its antioxidant-related activities, DOPAC mitigated the pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion from peripheral blood mononuclear cells by in lipopolysaccharide (Monagas et al., 2009) and the P-selectin expression in platelets (Rechner and Kroner, 2005).

The physiological metabolism from ethanol into acetic acid basically involves two enzymes, alcohol dehydrogenase and aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) (Matysiak-Budnik et al., 1996). The mutation of certain ALDH genes or ALDH polymorphism results in the enhanced acetaldehyde accumulation, which causes serious damage to the liver and abnormal reaction like vasodilation and facial flushing (Jin et al., n.d.)(Abe et al., 2015). Therefore, the strategy for enhancement of liver ALDH activities by the consumption of food phytochemicals is most likely to prevent humans from an alcohol-induced abnormal reaction.

In this study, to explore the possibility of DOPAC as a potential enhancer of the ALDH activity, we examined the protective effect of DOPAC on the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity *in vitro*. Our results showed that DOPAC increased the total ALDH activity as well as nuclear protein levels of the transcriptional factor Nrf2 and AhR. Furthermore, the pretreatment of DOPAC increased the resistance to the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity.

#### **3.2 Materials and Methods**

#### **3.2.1.** Chemicals and antibodies

DOPAC was obtained from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Antibodies against AhR, Nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B (NF- $\kappa$ B), and actin were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA, USA). Antibodies against Nrf2 were purchased from Cell signaling Technology, Inc. (Beverly, MA, USA). Other are as shown in Chapter 2.

#### **3.2.2 Cell culture and treatment**

The mouse hepatoma cell line Hepa1c1c7 from the American Type Culture Collection were grown at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere in  $\alpha$ -MEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 4 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin. Hepa1c1c7 cells (1.2 x 10<sup>6</sup>) were cultured on 60-mm dishes at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere for 24 h and then treated with or without the different concentrations of DOPAC in 0.2% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) for 6 h.

#### 3.2.3 MTT assay

See Chapter 2.

#### 3.2.4 Western blotting assay

See Chapter 2.

#### **3.2.5 ALDH activity assay**

See Chapter 2.

#### **3.3 Results**

#### **3.3.1 DOPAC enhanced ALDH activity**

As shown in Fig. 3.1, DOPAC significantly and concentration-dependently enhanced the total ALDH activity after 6 h treatment. The total ALDH activity in the cells treated with 10  $\mu$ M DOPAC, the minimal concentration for significant enhancement, was 1.7-fold greater than that of control.



Fig.3.1 Modulating effects of DOPAC on the enzyme activity.

Hepa1c1c7 cells were treated with the indicated concentrations of DOPAC for 6 h. The ALDH activity was measured using propionaldehyde as a substrate. All values are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD of three separate experiments (\*p <0.05, \*\*p <0.01 compared to 0  $\mu$ M DOPAC group; Student's t-test)

#### **3.3.2 Effect of DOPAC on gene expression of ALDHs**

The ALDHs consist of a large family of enzymes catalyzing the conversion of different aldehydes into their corresponding acids. Among 19 genes in ALDH family, ALDH1A1 and ALDH2 has been reported to express at a high level in liver tissue of human and plays a major role in acetaldehyde metabolism (Lind et al., 2008). Among the ALDH family, ALDH2 is a main member catalyzing ethanol metabolite acetaldehyde

into acetic acid (Agarwal et al., 1981). ALDH3A1 has also been suggested to assist ALDH2 in the metabolism of acetaldehyde and ethanol *in vivo* (Chen et al., 2015). Thus we examined the effect of DOPAC on the gene expression of ALDH1A1, ALDH2 and ALDH3A1. As shown in Figs. 3.2 (A),3.2 (B) and 3.2 (C), DOPAC significantly increased each gene expression of ALDH1A1, ALDH2 and ALDH3A1. Therefore, DOPAC acts as a potential inducer of the total ALDH activity, possibly through the transcriptional regulation of not only ALDH2, but also ALDH1A1 and ALDH3A1.



Α





20



Fig. 3.2 Modulating effects of DOPAC on gene expression of ALDHs.

Hepa1c1c7 cells were treated with the indicated concentrations of DOPAC for 6 h. (A) A RT-PCR analysis for each gene was carried out; (B) ALDH1A1, (C) ALDH2, and (D) ALDH3A1. All values were expressed as means  $\pm$  SD of three separate experiments (\*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01 compared to DOPAC 0  $\mu$ M group, Student's t-test).

#### 3.3.3 Effect of DOPAC on protein expression of ALDHs

We next checked the protein expression of the classical family of ALDHs, such as ALDH1A1, ALDH2 and ALDH3A1, by Western blotting. As shown in Fig. 3.3, DOPAC significantly increased the protein levels of ALDH1A1, ALDH2 and ALDH3A1. These inductions of protein expression probably because their gene expressions were increased.





Fig. 3.3 Modulating effects of DOPAC on the protein expression of ALDHs.

Hepa1c1c7 cells were treated with the indicated concentrations of DOPAC for 6 h. A Western blotting analysis for each protein was carried out; (A) Representative protein expression results. (B) ALDH1A1, (C) ALDH2, and (D) ALDH3A1. All values were expressed as means  $\pm$  SD of three separate experiments (\*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01 compared to DOPAC 0  $\mu$ M group, Student's t-test).

# 3.3.4 Effect of DOPAC on protein level of Transcriptional factor Nrf2, AhR and NF-кB.

Previous study using a DOPAC click chemistry probe indicated that the signaling pathway of Nrf2 and/or AhR is attributable to the gene expression of phase 2 drug-metabolizing enzymes (Nakashima et al., 2016). NF- $\kappa$ B is known as the nuclear factor interacted positively or negatively with Nrf2 and AhR (Wakabayashi et al., 2010). To investigate the possibility whether transcriptional factors, such as Nrf2, AhR and NF- $\kappa$ B, are involved in the ALDH expression, we examined their protein expression. As shown in Fig. 3.4A, 3.4B, 3.4C and 3.4D, DOPAC at 10 and 20 μM significantly increased the protein expression of Nrf2 and AhR, but not that of NF- $\kappa$ B. Next we checked the nuclear translocation of these transcriptional factors. The nuclear levels of Nrf2 and AhR significantly increased after the DOPAC treatment, whereas the nuclear level of NF- $\kappa$ B was attenuated by the DOPAC is able to activate the signaling pathways of both Nrf2 and AhR, but rather inhibit the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway.





С

D









Fig. 3.4 Modulating effects of DOPAC on the protein expression and nuclear translocation of Nrf2, AhR and NF- $\kappa$ B.

Hepa1c1c7 cells were treated with DOPAC for 6 h, and nuclear fractions as well as total cell lysates were subjected to a Western blot analysis. The protein levels of (A) Representative results, (B) Nrf2, (C) AhR and (D) NF- $\kappa$ B in the whole lysate. The nuclear accumulation of (E) Representative results, (F) Nrf2, (G) AhR and (H) NF- $\kappa$ B. All values were expressed as means ± SD of three separate experiments (\*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01 compared to DOPAC 0  $\mu$ M group, Student's t-test).

#### 3.3.5 DOPAC mitigated acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity

Acetaldehyde, the primary metabolite of ethanol in human body, covalently binds to a variety of thiols, such as GSH and protein sulfhydryls, and consequently induces lipid peroxidation, thereby altering the liver function and structure (Matysiak-Budnik et al., 1996). We finally examined the effect of the DOPAC pretreatment on the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity. Although the 6-h treatment of DOPAC at concentrations up to 200  $\mu$ M did not significantly influence the cell viability (Fig. 3.5A), the 3-h incubation with acetaldehyde at each concentration significantly decreased the cell viability (Fig. 3.5B). The pretreatment of 10  $\mu$ M DOPAC for 6 h completely impaired the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity (Fig.3.5B), suggesting that DOPAC at the concentration required for the inducible expression of the ALDHs actually exhibited a cytoprotective effect.





B

**Fig. 3.5** Mitigating effect of DOPAC on the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity in Hepa1c1c7 cells.

Hepa1c1c7 cells (2 x  $10^5$ ) were seeded in a 96-well plate and incubated for 24 h. (A) Effect of DOPAC on cell viability of Hepa1c1c7 cells. Cells were treated with different concentrations of DOPAC for 6 h. (B) Inhibitory effect of DOPAC pretreatment on the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity. After the pretreatment of 10 µM DOPAC for 6 h, the cells were treated with different concentrations of acetaldehyde for 3 h. After the acetaldehyde stimulation, an MTT assay was carried out. All values are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD of three separate experiments and analyzed by a one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD using XLSTAT software. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences among the treatments for each condition (p < 0.05).

#### **3.4 Discussion**

As shown in Fig. 3.1A, DOPAC significantly and concentration-dependently enhanced the total ALDH activity after a 6-h treatment. The total ALDH activity in the cells treated with 10 µM DOPAC, the minimal concentration for a significant enhancement, was 1.7-fold greater than that of the control. The ALDHs consist of a large family of enzymes catalyzing the conversion of different aldehydes into their corresponding acids. Among the 19 genes in the ALDH family, ALDH1A1 and ALDH2 have been reported to express at a high level in the liver tissue of humans and play a major role in the acetaldehyde metabolism (Yoshida et al., 1998)(Lind et al., 2008)(Agarwal et al., 1981). ALDH3A1 has also been suggested to assist ALDH2 in the metabolism of acetaldehyde and ethanol in vivo (Chen et al., 2015). Thus we examined the effect of DOPAC on the gene expression of ALDH1A1, ALDH2 and ALDH3A1. As shown in Figs. 3.2A, 3.2B and 3.2C, DOPAC significantly increased each gene expression of ALDH1A1, ALDH2 and ALDH3A1, respectively. Furthermore, as shown in Fig. 3.3, DOPAC also significantly increased the protein levels of ALDH1A1, ALDH2 and ALDH3A1. Therefore, DOPAC acts as a potential inducer of the total ALDH activity, possibly through the transcriptional regulation of not only ALDH2 and ALDH1A1, but also ALDH3A1.

A previous study using a DOPAC click chemistry probe indicated that the signaling pathway of Nrf2 and/or AhR is attributable to the gene expression of the phase 2 drug-metabolizing enzymes (Nakashima et al., 2016)(Tang et al., 2016). NF- $\kappa$ B is known as the nuclear factor that interacts positively or negatively with Nrf2 and AhR (Wakabayashi et al., 2010). To investigate whether Nrf2, AhR and NF- $\kappa$ B, are involved in the ALDH expression, we examined their protein expression. As shown in Fig. 3.4, DOPAC showed the tendency to increase the total protein expression of Nrf2 and AhR, but not NF- $\kappa$ B. We next checked the nuclear translocation of these transcriptional factors. The nuclear levels of Nrf2 and AhR significantly increased after the DOPAC treatment, whereas the nuclear level of NF- $\kappa$ B was attenuated by the DOPAC treatment (Figs. 3.4E, 3.4F, 3.5G and 3.5H). These results suggested that DOPAC is able to activate the signaling pathways of both Nrf2 and AhR, but rather inhibit the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway.

Acetaldehyde, the primary metabolite of ethanol in human body, covalently binds to a variety of thiols, such as GSH and protein sulfhydryls, and consequently induces lipid peroxidation, thereby altering the liver function and structure (Matysiak-Budnik et al., 1996). We finally examined the effect of the DOPAC pretreatment on the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity. Although the 6-h treatment of DOPAC at concentrations up to 200  $\mu$ M did not significantly influence the cell viability (Fig. 3.5A), the 3-h incubation with acetaldehyde at each concentration significantly decreased the cell viability (Fig. 3.5B). The pretreatment of 10  $\mu$ M DOPAC for 6 h completely impaired the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity (Fig. 3.5B), suggesting that DOPAC at the concentration required for the inducible expression of the ALDHs actually exhibited a cytoprotective effect.

Nrf2 has been reported as a transcriptional factor involved in the inducible expression of ALDH1 (Wu et al., 2012), ALDH2 (Nair et al., 2006), and ALDH3A1 (Sládek, 2003). In this study, we observed that DOPAC significantly increased the nuclear translocation of Nrf2 (Figs. 3.4B and 3.4F). A previous study demonstrated that the knockdown of AhR reduced the total ALDH activity by 80% in Hs578T cells (Bunaciu and Yen, 2011). The gene expression of ALDH3 was shown to be mediated by an AhR/xenobiotic response element axis (Sládek, 2003). AhR has been identified as a potential target of covalent modification by DOPAC (Nakashima et al., 2016).

Expectedly, DOPAC significantly increased the nuclear level of the AhR proteins (Figs. 3.4C and 3.4G). Although the promoter region of the ALDH3A1 gene is also reported to bind with NF-κB, DOPAC did not increase its nuclear level (Fig. 3.4D). Taken together, DOPAC might activate both the AhR and Nrf2-dependent pathways, but not the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway, to increase the expression of the ALDH genes. Keap1 is postulated as a plausible target of electrophiles that facilitate the depression of Nrf2 (Nakamura and Miyoshi, 2010). Electrophilic quinones have also been reported to have capability to covalently bind to and activate AhR (Abiko et al., 2015). Our group have successfully detected the direct modification of Keap1 and AhR by DOPAC using its click chemistry probe and the pull down assay (Nakashima et al., 2016). These results indicated that covalent modification of Keap1 and AhR by DOPAC might be involved in the activation of these pathways and up-regulation of ALDH genes in Hepa1c1c7 cells. DOPAC not only induced the gene expression of ALDHs, but also the phase 2 genes including glutathione S-transferase, heme oxygenase-1 and glutamate-cysteine ligase, catalytic subunit, both of which play an effective role in protection against oxidative stress (Ghattas et al., 2002)(Nakamura et al., 2000). Oxidative stress is also suggested to be involved in the toxic mechanism of acetaldehyde (Matysiak-Budnik et al., 1996). Therefore, the DOPAC-induced phase 2 enzymes cannot be ruled out in the cytoprotective mechanism against acetaldehyde. Acetaldehyde can impair the protein functions and gene expression by covalent binding formation with proteins and DNA (Ishii et al., 2009). Glutathione is also a binding target for acetaldehyde and inhibits its electrophilic reactivity (Setshedi et al., 2010). However, the treatment of Hapa1c1c7 cells with lower than 100 µM of DOPAC did not exhibit a significant alteration of the intracellular level of reduced form of glutathione (Tang et al., 2016). Therefore, the glutathione-dependent mechanism might be unattributable to the DOPAC-induced cytoprotection against acetaldehyde.

In conclusion, we identified a major catabolite of quercetin glycosides, DOPAC, as an ALDH activity enhancer. The DOPAC pretreatment also increases the resistance to the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity, possibly through the transcriptional regulation of the ALDH genes by Nrf2 and AhR. Since DOPAC is a phenolic acid catabolite of dopamine as well as quercetin with a much lower cytotoxicity (Fig. 3.5A), DOPAC has some advantages for application as a food chemical to prevent humans from an alcohol-induced abnormal reaction. Future efforts will be concerned with further understanding the signaling pathway of the ALDH induction as well as in vivo significance of the protective effect of DOPAC against the alcohol-induced toxicity.

## CONCLUSION

In the present study, the mechanism of BITC and DOPAC induced ALDH activity were investigated. The cell lines we used are mouse hepatoma Hepa1c1c7 cells, human hepatocellular carcinoma HepG2 cells and mouse live normal RL34 cells.

In Chapter 2, the ability and mechanism of benzyl isothiocyanate (BITC) enhanced ALDH activity were examined.

- (1) BITC incubation for 24 h, 24 h and 3 h dose-dependently increased total ALDH activity in Hepa1c1c7 cells, RL34 cells and HepaG2 cells.
- (2) BITC increased both gene and protein expression of ALDHs.
- (3) BITC increased Nrf2 expression and stimulated its nuclear translocation.
- (4) Silencing Nrf2 decreased total ALDH activity and BITC-induced gene expression of ALDH2 and ALDH3A1.
- (5) BITC mitigated acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity through Nrf2 pathway and partly through the ALDH3A1 up-regulation.

In Chapter 3, I investigated DOPAC induced ALDH activity in Hepa1c1c7 cells.

- (1) DOPAC up-regulated total ALDH activity.
- (2) DOPAC not only up-regulated gene expression of ALDHs, but also upregulated protein expression of ALDHs.
- (3) The DOPAC pretreatment also increases the resistance to the acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity, possibly through the transcriptional regulation of the ALDH genes by Nrf2 and AhR.

Taken together, these series of studied suggested the induction of ALDH activity of BITC and DOPAC can mitigated acetaldehyde-induced cytotoxicity through some transcriptional pathway such as Nrf2, AhR or NF-κB.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author expresses her deep gratitude and wish to thank Professor YOSHIMASA NAKAMURA, Division of Agriculture and Life science, Graduate School of Environmental and Life Science, Okayama University, Japan, for his guidance, continuous encouragement, and constructive suggestion of his study. I also need to thank to Professor YOSHIYUKI MURATA for his supported, encouragement and advice given at all stages of this study. And I thank to Professor YOSHINOBU KIMURA for his advice and support in my study. It is a pleasure to acknowledge Assistant Professor SHINTARO MUNEMASA, TOSHIYUKI NAKAMURA and NAOMI Ye for their help and valuable advice during the research. It is pleasure to express my thanks to Sayaka Nakashima, Ayuki Kurita, Momoko Yamanaka, Xiaoyang Liu for their collaboration with this study. I thank all members of Laboratory of Food Biochemistry and Biological Information who have so kindly helped and encouraged me during this study.

The scholarship from Privately Financed International Students made my period of study in Okayama University possible.

I am also grateful to Professor BEIWEI ZHU, she gave me this valuable opportunity to come to Japan and continue my study.

Finally, I wish to express my sincere thanks to my family for their patient and spiritual support.

### REFERENCES

- Abe, H., Aida, Y., Seki, N., Sugita, T., Tomita, Y., Nagano, T., Itagaki, M., Sutoh, S., Nagatsuma, K., Itoh, K., Matsuura, T., Aizawa, Y.,(2015) Aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 polymorphism for development to hepatocellular carcinoma in East Asian alcoholic liver cirrhosis. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol., 30, 1376–1383.
- Abiko, Y., Puga, A., Kumagai, Y.,(2015) Covalent binding of quinones activates the Ah receptor in Hepa1c1c7 cells. *J. Toxicol. Sci.*, **40**, 873–886.
- Agarwal, D.P., Harada, S., Goedde, H.W.,(1981) Racial differences in biological sensitivity to ethanol: the role of alcohol dehydrogenase and aldehyde dehydrogenase isozymes. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.*, **5**, 12–16.
- Anni, H., Pristatsky, P., Israel, Y.,(2003) Binding of acetaldehyde to a glutathione metabolite: mass spectrometric characterization of an acetaldehyde-cysteinylglycine conjugate. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.*, 27, 1613–1621.
- Azmannabdullah, 3#, N., Kitteringham 1#, R., Jenkins, Christopherrgoldring, Larryyhiggins, Masayukiiyamamoto, Johnnhayes, Kevinnpark,(2012) AnalysissofftheeroleeoffNrf22inntheeexpression offliverrproteinssinnmiceeusinggtwo-dimensional gel-baseddproteomics. *Pharmacol. Reports*, **64**, 680–697.
- Baird, L., Dinkova-Kostova, A.T.,(2011) The cytoprotective role of the Keap1-Nrf2 pathway. Arch. Toxicol., 85, 241–272.
- Boesch, J.S., Miskimins, R., Miskimins, W.K., Lindahl, R.,(1999) The Same Xenobiotic Response Element Is Required for Constitutive and Inducible Expression of the Mammalian Aldehyde Dehydrogenase-3 Gene. Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 361, 223–230.
- Brauze, D., Widerak, M., Cwykiel, J., Szyfter, K., Baer-Dubowska, W.,(2006) The effect of aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligands on the expression of AhR, AhRR, ARNT, Hif1α, CYP1A1 and NQO1 genes in rat liver. *Toxicol. Lett.*, **167**, 212–220.
- Bunaciu, R.P., Yen, A.,(2011) Activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor AhR Promotes retinoic acid-induced differentiation of myeloblastic leukemia cells by restricting expression of the stem cell transcription factor Oct4. *Cancer Res.*, **71**, 2371–80.
- Chen, C.H., Cruz, L.A., Mochly-Rosen, D.,(2015) Pharmacological recruitment of aldehyde dehydrogenase 3A1 (ALDH3A1) to assist ALDH2 in acetaldehyde and ethanol metabolism in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **112**, 3074–3079.
- Choi, E.J., Kwon, H.C., Sohn, Y.C., Nam, C.W., Park, H.B., Kim, C.Y., Yang, H.O.,(2009) Four flavonoids from Echinosophora koreensis and their effects on alcohol metabolizing enzymes. *Arch. Pharm. Res.*, **32**, 851–855.
- Choi, J.W., Kim, J.H., Cho, S.C., Ha, M.K., Song, K.Y., Youn, H.D., Park, S.C., (2011) Malondialdehyde inhibits an AMPK-mediated nuclear translocation and repression activity of ALDH2 in transcription. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 404, 400–406.
- Day, A.J., Gee, J.M., DuPont, M.S., Johnson, I.T., Williamson, G.,(2003) Absorption of quercetin-3-glucoside and quercetin-4???-glucoside in the rat small intestine: The role of lactase phlorizin hydrolase and the sodium-dependent glucose transporter.

Biochem. Pharmacol., 65, 1199–1206.

- Esser, C., Rannug, A.,(2015) The Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor in Barrier Organ Physiology, Immunology, and Toxicology. *Pharmacol. Rev.*, **67**, 259–279.
- Franklin, C.C., Krejsa, C.M., Pierce, R.H., White, C.C., Fausto, N., Kavanagh, T.J.,(2002) Caspase-3-Dependent Cleavage of the Glutamate-L-Cysteine Ligase Catalytic Subunit during Apoptotic Cell Death. Am. J. Pathol., 160, 1887–94.
- Gesi, M., Santinami, A., Ruffoli, R., Conti, G., Fornai, F.,(2008) Novel Aspects of Dopamine Oxidative Metabolism (Confounding Outcomes Take Place of Certainties. *Pharmacol. Toxicol.*, **89**, 217–224.
- Ghattas, M.H., Chuang, L.T., Kappas, A., Abraham, N.G., (2002) Protective effect of HO-1 against oxidative stress in human hepatoma cell line (HepG2) is independent of telomerase enzyme activity. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, **34**, 1619–1628.
- Goedde, H.W., Agarwal, D.P., Harada, S.,(1980) Genetic studies on alcohol-metabolizing enzymes: detection of isozymes in human hair roots. *Enzyme*, **25**, 281–286.
- Graefe, E.U., Wittig, J., Mueller, S., Riethling, A.,(2001) Pharmacokinetics and Bioavailability of Quercetin Glycosides in Humans. J. Clin Pharmacol, 41, 492–499.
- Higdon, J. V, Delage, B., Williams, D.E., Dashwood, R.H., (2007) Cruciferous Vegetables and Human Cancer Risk: Epidemiologic Evidence and Mechanistic Basis. *NIH Public Access*, 55, 224–236.
- Hollman, P.C.H., Van Trijp, J.M.P., Buysman, M.N.C.P., Martijn, M.S., Mengelers, M.J.B., De Vries, J.H.M., Katan, M.B.,(1997) Relative bioavailability of the antioxidant flavonoid quercetin from various foods in man. *FEBS Lett.*, **418**, 152–156.
- Hubbard, G.P., Wolffram, S., de Vos, R., Bovy, A., Gibbins, J.M., Lovegrove, J. a,(2006) Ingestion of onion soup high in quercetin inhibits platelet aggregation and essential components of the collagen-stimulated platelet activation pathway in man: a pilot study. *Br. J. Nutr.*, **96**, 482–488.
- Ishii, T., Ishikawa, M., Miyoshi, N., Yasunaga, M., Akagawa, M., Uchida, K., Nakamura, Y.,(2009) Catechol Type Polyphenol Is a Potential Modifier of Protein Sulfhydryls: Development and Application of a New Probe for Understanding the Dietary Polyphenol Actions. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.*, 22, 1689–1698.
- Jin, S., Chen, J., Chen, L., Histen, G., Lin, Z., Gross, S., Hixon, J., Chen, Y., Kung, C., Chen, Y., Fu, Y., Lu, Y., Lin, H., Cai, X., Yang, H., Cairns, R.A., Dorsch, M., Su, S.M., Biller, S., Mak, T.W., Cang, Y.,(n.d.) ALDH2(E487K) mutation increases protein turnover and promotes murine hepatocarcinogenesis.
- Kensler, T.W., Wakabayashi, N., Biswal, S.,(2007) Cell survival responses to environmental stresses via the Keap1-Nrf2-ARE pathway. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.*, 47, 89–116.
- Kiefer, F.W., Orasanu, G., Nallamshetty, S., Brown, J.D., Wang, H., Luger, P., Qi, N.R., Burant, C.F., Duester, G., Plutzky, J.,(2012) Retinaldehyde dehydrogenase 1 coordinates hepatic gluconeogenesis and lipid metabolism. *Endocrinology*, **153**, 3089–3099.

- Kurita, H., Schnekenburger, M., Ovesen, J.L., Xia, Y., Puga, A.,(2014) The ah receptor recruits IKK?? to its target binding motifs to phosphorylate serine-10 in histone H3 required for transcriptional activation. *Toxicol. Sci.*, **139**, 121–132.
- Kurose, I., Higuchi, H., Kato, S., Miura, S., Watanabe, N., Kamegaya, Y., Tomita, K., Takaishi, M., Horie, Y., Fukuda, M., Mizukami, K., Ishii, H.,(1997) Oxidative stress on mitochondria and cell membrane of cultured rat hepatocytes and perfused liver exposed to ethanol. *Gastroenterology*, **112**, 1331–1343.
- Lamlé, J., Marhenke, S., Borlak, J., von Wasielewski, R., Eriksson, C.J.P., Geffers, R., Manns, M.P., Yamamoto, M., Vogel, A., (2008) Nuclear Factor-Eythroid 2-Related Factor 2 Prevents Alcohol-Induced Fulminant Liver Injury. *Gastroenterology*, 134.
- Li, L., Dong, H., Song, E., Xu, X., Liu, L., Song, Y.,(2014) Nrf2/ARE pathway activation, HO-1 and NQO1 induction by polychlorinated biphenyl quinone is associated with reactive oxygen species and PI3K/AKT signaling. *Chem. Biol. Interact.*, **209**, 56–67.
- Lind, P.A., Eriksson, C.J., Wilhelmsen, K.C.,(2008) The role of aldehyde dehydrogenase-1 (ALDH1A1) polymorphisms in harmful alcohol consumption in a Finnish population. *Hum. Genomics*, **3**, 24–35.
- Lindros, K.O., Badger, T., Ronis, M., Ingelman-Sundberg, M., Koivusalo, M., (1995) Phenethyl isothiocyanate, a new dietary liver aldehyde dehydrogenase inhibitor. J Pharmacol.Exp.Ther, 275, 79–83.
- Mapoles, J.E., Iwahashi, M., Lucas, D., Zimmerman, B.T., Simon, F.R.,(1994) Acetaldehyde exposure causes growth inhibition in a Chinese hamster ovary cell line that expresses alcohol dehydrogenase. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.*, 18, 632–639.
- Matysiak-Budnik, T., Jokelainen, K., Kärkkäinen, P., Mäkisalo, H., Ohisalo, J., Salaspuro, M.,(1996) Hepatotoxicity and absorption of extrahepatic acetaldehyde in rats. *J. Pathol.*,.
- Miyoshi, N., Watanabe, E., Osawa, T., Okuhira, M., Murata, Y., Ohshima, H., Nakamura, Y.,(2008) ATP depletion alters the mode of cell death induced by benzyl isothiocyanate. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Basis Dis.*, **1782**, 566–573.
- Monagas, M., Khan, N., Andrés-Lacueva, C., Urpí-Sardá, M., Vázquez-Agell, M., Lamuela-Raventós, R.M., Estruch, R.,(2009) Dihydroxylated phenolic acids derived from microbial metabolism reduce lipopolysaccharide-stimulated cytokine secretion by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Br. J. Nutr.*, **102**, 201.
- Moreb, J.S., Maccow, C., Schweder, M., Hecomovich, J., (2000) Expression of Antisense RNA to Aldehyde Dehydrogenase Class-1 Sensitizes Tumor Cells to 4-Hydroperoxycyclophosphamide In Vitro. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., **293**, 390–396.
- Mullen, W., Rouanet, J.-M., Auger, C., Teissedre, P.-L., Caldwell, S.T., Hartley, R.C., Lean, M.E.J., Edwards, C.A., Crozier, A.,(2008) Bioavailability of [2-(14)C]quercetin-4'-glucoside in rats. J. Agric. Food Chem., 56, 12127–12137.
- Muzio, G., Trombetta, A., Maggiora, M., Martinasso, G., Vasiliou, V., Lassen, N., Canuto, R.A.,(2006) Arachidonic acid suppresses growth of human lung tumor A549 cells through down-regulation of ALDH3A1 expression. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, 40, 1929–1938.
- Nair, S., Xu, C., Shen, G., Hebbar, V., Gopalakrishnan, A., Hu, R., Jain, M.R., Lin, W., Keum, Y.-S., Liew, C., Chan, J.Y., Kong, A.-N.T., (2006) Pharmacogenomics of

Phenolic Antioxidant Butylated Hydroxyanisole (BHA) in the Small Intestine and Liver of Nrf2 Knockout and C57BL/6J Mice. *Pharm. Res.*, **23**, 2621–2637.

- Nakamura, Y., Miyoshi, N.,(2010) Electrophiles in foods: the current status of isothiocyanates and their chemical biology. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.*, **74**, 242–55.
- Nakamura, Y., Ohigashi, H., Masuda, S., Murakami, A., Morimitsu, Y., Kawamoto, Y., Osawa, T., Imagawa, M., Uchida, K.,(2000) Redox regulation of glutathione S-transferase induction by benzyl isothiocyanate: Correlation of enzyme induction with the formation of reactive oxygen intermediates. *Cancer Res.*, **60**, 219–225.
- Nakamura, Y., Yoshimoto, M., Murata, Y., Shimoishi, Y., Asai, Y., Eun, Y.P., Sato, K., Nakamura, Y.,(2007) Papaya seed represents a rich source of biologically active isothiocyanate. J. Agric. Food Chem., 55, 4407–4413.
- Nakashima, S., Liu, Z., Yamaguchi, Y., Saiki, S., Munemasa, S., Nakamura, T., Murata, Y., Nakamura, Y.,(2016) A novel tag-free probe for targeting molecules interacting with a flavonoid catabolite. *Biochem. Biophys. Reports*, 7, 240–245.
- Nguyen, T., Huang, H.C., Pickett, C.B.,(2000) Transcriptional regulation of the antioxidant response element. Activation by Nrf2 and repression by MafK. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **275**, 15466–15473.
- Oeckinghaus, A., Ghosh, S., (2009) The NF-kappaB family of transcription factors and its regulation. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.*, **1**, a000034.
- Peng, X., Zhang, Z., Zhang, N., Liu, L., Li, S., Wei, H., (2014) In vitro catabolism of quercetin by human fecal bacteria and the antioxidant capacity of its catabolites. *Food Nutr. Res.*, 58.
- Rao, R.K.,(1998) Acetaldehyde-induced increase in paracellular permeability in Caco-2 cell monolayer. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.*, **22**, 1724–1730.
- Rechner, A.R., Kroner, C.,(2005) Anthocyanins and colonic metabolites of dietary polyphenols inhibit platelet function. *Thromb. Res.*, **116**, 327–334.
- Reisdorph, R., Lindahl, R.,(2007) Constitutive and 3-methylcholanthrene-induced rat ALDH3A1 expression is mediated by multiple xenobiotic response elements. *Drug Metab. Dispos.*, **35**, 386–393.
- Rios, L.Y., Gonthier, M.-P., Rémésy, C., Mila, I., Lapierre, C., Lazarus, S.A., Williamson, G., Scalbert, A.,(2003) Chocolate intake increases urinary excretion of polyphenol-derived phenolic acids in healthy human subjects. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.*, **77**, 912–8.
- Sawai, Y., Kohsaka, K., Nishiyama, Y., Ando, K., (1987) Serum concentrations of rutoside metabolites after oral administration of a rutoside formulation to humans. *Arzneimittelforschung.*, 37, 729–32.
- Scalbert, A., Andres-Lacueva, C., Arita, M., Kroon, P., Manach, C., Urpi-Sarda, M., Wishart, D.,(2011) Databases on food phytochemicals and their health promoting effects. J. Agric. Food Chem., 4331–4348.
- Setshedi, M., Wands, J.R., Monte, S.M. de la,(2010) Acetaldehyde adducts in alcoholic liver disease. *Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev.*, **3**, 178–85.
- Shao, C., Sullivan, J.P., Girard, L., Augustyn, A., Yenerall, P., Rodriguez-Canales, J., Liu,

H., Behrens, C., Shay, J.W., Wistuba, I.I., Minna, J.D.,(2014) Essential role of aldehyde dehydrogenase 1A3 for the maintenance of non-small cell lung cancer stem cells is associated with the STAT3 pathway. *Clin. Cancer Res.*, **20**, 4154–66.

- Sisson, J.H., Tuma, D.J.,(1994) Vapor phase exposure to acetaldehyde generated from ethanol inhibits bovine bronchial epithelial cell ciliary motility. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.*, **18**, 1252–1255.
- Sládek, N.E.,(2003) Transient induction of increased aldehyde dehydrogenase 3A1 levels in cultured human breast (adeno)carcinoma cell lines via 5'-upstream xenobiotic, and electrophile, responsive elements is, respectively, estrogen receptor-dependent and -independent. *Chem. Biol. Interact.*, **143**, 63–74.
- Sreerama, L., Sládek, N.E.,(2001) Three different stable human breast adenocarcinoma sublines that overexpress ALDH3A1 and certain other enzymes, apparently as a consequence of constitutively upregulated gene transcription mediated by transactivated EpREs (electrophile responsive elements) present in the 5'-upstream regions of these genes. *Chem. Biol. Interact.*, **130–132**, 247–260.
- Srivastava, S., Somasagara, R.R., Hegde, M., Nishana, M., Tadi, S.K., Srivastava, M., Choudhary, B., Raghavan, S.C.,(2016) Quercetin, a Natural Flavonoid Interacts with DNA, Arrests Cell Cycle and Causes Tumor Regression by Activating Mitochondrial Pathway of Apoptosis. *Sci. Rep.*, 6, 24049.
- Stanford, E.A., Wang, Z., Novikov, O., Mulas, F., Landesman-Bollag, E., Monti, S., Smith, B.W., Seldin, D.C., Murphy, G.J., Sherr, D.H., (2016) The role of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor in the development of cells with the molecular and functional characteristics of cancer stem-like cells. *BMC Biol.*, 14, 20.
- Tanaka, K., Whelan, K.A., Chandramouleeswaran, P.M., Kagawa, S., Sabrina, L.,(2016) ALDH2 modulates autophagy flux to regulate acetaldehyde-mediated toxicity thresholds 6, 781–796.
- Tang, Y., Nakashima, S., Saiki, S., Myoi, Y., Abe, N., Kuwazuru, S., Zhu, B., Ashida, H., Murata, Y., Nakamura, Y.,(2016) 3,4-Dihydroxyphenylacetic acid is a predominant biologically-active catabolite of quercetin glycosides. *Food Res. Int.*, 89, 716–723.
- Thimmulappa, R.K., Mai, K.H., Srisuma, S., Kensler, T.W., Yamamoto, M., Biswal, S., (2002) Identification of Nrf2-regulated genes induced by the chemopreventive agent sulforaphane by oligonucleotide microarray. *Cancer Res.*, **62**, 5196–5203.
- Ura, A.A., Eary, K.A.O.L., Illiamson, G.W., Jala, M.O., Ailey, M.B., Imia, R.P.U.,(2002) Quercetin Derivatives Are Deconjugated and Converted to Hydroxyphenylacetic Acids but Not Methylated by Human Fecal Flora in Vitro 0–5.
- Ushida, Y., Talalay, P.,(2013) Sulforaphane accelerates acetaldehyde metabolism by inducing aldehyde dehydrogenases: Relevance to ethanol intolerance. *Alcohol Alcohol.*, **48**, 526–534.
- Vasiliou, V., Nebert, D.W.,(2005) Analysis and update of the human aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) gene family. *Hum. Genomics*, **2**, 138.
- Wakabayashi, N., Slocum, S.L., Skoko, J.J., Shin, S., Kensler, T.W., (2010) When NRF2 Talks, Who's Listening? Antioxid. Redox Signal., 13, 1649–1663.
- Wang, H.L., Zhou, P.Y., Liu, P., Zhang, Y.,(2014) ALDH2 and ADH1 genetic polymorphisms may contribute to the risk of gastric cancer: A meta-analysis. *PLoS*

One, 9.

- Wenzel, P., Hink, U., Oelze, M., Schuppan, S., Schaeuble, K., Schildknecht, S., Ho, K.K., Weiner, H., Bachschmid, M., Münzel, T., Daiber, A.,(2007) Role of reduced lipoic acid in the redox regulation of mitochondrial aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH-2) activity: Implications for mitochondrial oxidative stress and nitrate tolerance. J. Biol. Chem., 282, 792–799.
- Wu, K.C., Cui, J.Y., Klaassen, C.D., Klaassen, C., Kimura, K., (2012) Effect of Graded Nrf2 Activation on Phase-I and -II Drug Metabolizing Enzymes and Transporters in Mouse Liver. *PLoS One*, 7, e39006.
- Xiao, Q., Weiner, H., Crabb, D.W.,(1996) The Mutation in the Mitochondrial Aldehyde Dehydrogenase (ALDH2) Gene Responsible for Alcohol-induced Flushing Increases Turnover of the Enzyme Tetramers in a Dominant Fashion. J. Clin. Invest., 98, 2027–2032.
- Xiao, Q., Weiner, H., Johnston, T., Crabb, D.W.,(1995) The aldehyde dehydrogenase ALDH2\*2 allele exhibits dominance over ALDH2\*1 in transduced HeLa cells. *J. Clin. Invest.*, **96**, 2180–2186.
- Yan, T., Zhao, Y., Zhang, X.,(2016) Acetaldehyde Induces Cytotoxicity of SH-SY5Y Cells via Inhibition of Akt Activation and Induction of Oxidative Stress. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev., 2016.
- Yang, J., Qian, D., Guo, J., Jiang, S., Shang, E., Duan, J., Xu, J., (2013) Identification of the major metabolites of hyperoside produced by the human intestinal bacteria using the ultra performance liquid chromatography/quadrupole-time-of-flight mass spectrometry. J. Ethnopharmacol., 147, 174–9.
- Yoshida, A., Rzhetsky, A., Hsu, L.C., Chang, C., (1998) Human aldehyde dehydrogenase gene family. *Eur. J. Biochem.*, 251, 549–57.
- Yu, H.-S., Oyama, T., Isse, T., Kitakawa, K., Ogawa, M., Pham, T.-T.-P., Kawamoto, T.,(2009) Characteristics of aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (Aldh2) knockout mice. *Toxicol. Mech. Methods*, **19**, 535–540.
- Zou, X., Gao, J., Zheng, Y., Wang, X., Chen, C., Cao, K., Xu, J., Li, Y., Lu, W., Liu, J., Feng, Z.,(2014) Zeaxanthin induces Nrf2-mediated phase II enzymes in protection of cell death. *Cell Death Dis.*, 5, e1218.